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Pennsylvania Electric Company


:

OPINION AND ORDER

BY THE COMMISSION:



Before the Commission for consideration and disposition are the Exceptions (Exceptions) of Pennsylvania Electric Company (Company or Penelec), filed on January 5, 2009, to the Initial Decision (I.D.) of Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) Robert P. Meehan, which was issued on November 19, 2008, in the above-captioned proceedings.  No Replies to Exceptions were filed by the Complainants.

History of the Proceeding

The above-referenced formal Complaints, alleging reliability, safety and quality of service disputes were filed against Penelec between March 10, 2008, and May 30, 2008.  Penelec filed answers to each of the Complaints.  Because the Complaints all raised the same or substantially similar issue, i.e., Penelec’s elimination of its Outdoor Lighting Service, they were consolidated.  The consolidated case was assigned to ALJ John H. Corbett, Jr. and scheduled for an initial hearing on September 15, 2008, in Pittsburgh.  Two letters informing all parties of the date, time and location of the hearing were mailed to all parties.  ALJ Corbett issued a Prehearing Order on August 14, 2008, and a Corrected Prehearing Order on September 4, 2008.  In addition, he granted the requests of two of the Complainants, Betty Lou Shoup and Janet E. Fochtman, to participate in the hearing and testify by telephone.

The hearing was held as scheduled on September 15, 2008, but due to the illness of ALJ Corbett, the case was heard by ALJ Robert P. Meehan.  Betty Lou Shoup and Janet E. Fochtman each appeared by telephone.  They were not represented by an attorney.  They each testified in support of their respective Complaints and did not submit any exhibits.  Penelec, represented at the hearing by an attorney, presented the testimony 
of a single witness and submitted two exhibits, which were admitted.  None of the other Complainants appeared at the hearing.  Penelec moved for the dismissal of the Complaints of those who did not appear at the hearing.  That motion was granted on-the-record.  The record, consisting of the 42-page transcript of the hearing of September 15, 2008, and the two exhibits, was closed by Interim Order issued November 17, 2008.



On November 19, 2008, ALJ Meehan’s issued an Initial Decision.  The ALJ confirmed his ruling made at the conclusion of the hearing granting Penelec’s motion to dismiss the Complaints of those Complainants who did not appear at the hearing to prosecute their respective Complaints and dismissed those Complaints with prejudice.  I.D. at 1-2.  However, the ALJ sustained the formal Complaints filed by Betty Lou Shoup at Docket No. C-2008-2031300, and by Janet E. Fochtman at Docket No. C‑2008-2035103, and prohibited Penelec from putting into effect its Tariff rules and regulations providing for the elimination of its Outdoor Lighting Service.  The ALJ directed Penelec to submit to the Commission a plan for replacing outdoor mercury vapor lighting with outdoor lighting that is in compliance with existing Federal and state laws and regulations.  I.D. at 2.


Penelec filed three Exceptions to the Initial Decision on January 5, 2009.  The Complainants did not file Replies to the Exceptions.

Discussion



We note that any issue or Exception, which we do not specifically address herein, has been duly considered and will be denied without further discussion.  It is well settled that we are not required to consider expressly or at length each contention or argument raised by the parties.  Wheeling & Lake Erie Railway Co. v. Pa. PUC, 778 A.2d 785, 794 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2001), also see, generally, University of Pennsylvania v. Pa. PUC, 485 A.2d 1217 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1984).



In addition to the foregoing, Section 332(a) of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 332(a), provides that the party seeking a rule or order from the Commission has the burden of proof in that proceeding.  It is axiomatic that “[a] litigant’s burden of proof before administrative tribunals as well as before most civil proceedings is satisfied by establishing a preponderance of evidence which is substantial and legally credible.”  Samuel J. Lansberry, Inc. v. Pa. PUC, 578 A.2d 600, 602 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1990).  The term “preponderance of the evidence” means that one party has presented evidence that is more convincing, by even the smallest amount, than the evidence presented by the other party.  Se-ling Hosiery v. Margulies, 364 Pa. 45, 70 A.2d 854 (1950).  




While the burden of persuasion may shift back and forth during a proceeding, the burden of proof never shifts. The burden of proof always remains on the party seeking affirmative relief from the Commission.  Milkie v. Pa. PUC, 768 A.2d 1217 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2001).



The ALJ made thirty-one Findings of Fact and reached eight Conclusions of Law.  The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law are incorporated herein by reference and are adopted without comment unless they are either expressly or by necessary implication rejected or modified by this Opinion and Order.

We agree with the ALJ that the Complaints of those Complainants who failed to appear at the September 15, 2008 hearing in this consolidated proceeding should be dismissed, with prejudice, for failure to prosecute their Complaints. Conclusion of Law No. 2.

The remaining Complainants’ dispute concerns Penelec’s elimination of Outdoor Lighting Service and a request by the Complainants that Penelec be prohibited from eliminating that service.  I.D. at 9.  
The facts of each case, which Penelec did not contest, are summarized, below.
With respect to Betty Lou Shoup, Ms. Shoup has an outdoor light attached to one of Penelec’s poles in the back of her yard.  The light comes on at dusk and it lights her yard.  The pole is on a dead-end street.  This pole has a transformer attached to it and also supplies electricity to houses.  Finding of Fact No. 4; Tr. 10, 20.  Ms. Shoup lives in an area where bears, deer, and skunks roam.  She has a little dog that she walks in her yard and the outdoor light enables her to see if anything is in her yard before she goes outside.  Finding of Fact No. 5; Tr. 10.  Ms. Shoup is 80 years old and handicapped and the outdoor light provides her with a measure of safety, because she can see if anything is in her yard at night.  Finding of Fact No. 6; Tr. 10, 31.  There are also three homes that receive the benefit of the outdoor light on Penelec’s pole in the back of Ms. Shoup’s yard.  Neighborhood children coming home from school on an “activity bus” at 6:00 p.m. have the benefit of her outdoor light in getting to their homes. Finding of Fact 7; Tr. 10, 11. Ms. Shoup pays Penelec for the outdoor light on the pole in the back of her yard. Finding of Fact 8; Tr. 10-11.  Ms. Shoup’s monthly electric bill from Penelec includes the amount of $7.30 for the outdoor light, which has been in use since 1969.  Finding of Fact No. 9; Tr. 11.

With respect to Janet E. Fochtman, Ms. Fochtman has had two outdoor lights in her yard since 1975 for which she pays Penelec between $9.00 and $10.00 per light per month.  Finding of Fact No. 10; Tr. 12.  The poles for the lights were installed by Ms. Fochtman’s husband and are not Penelec poles.  Penelec did, however, put the lights on the poles.  One of the lights is alongside her house, and the other is between her house and a street.  Finding of Fact No. 11; Tr. 12, 14, 19.  Ms. Fochtman and her husband are both in their 70’s and disabled.  They are not able to climb the poles to replace the lights when they burn out.  In the past, she would inform Penelec that a bulb was burned out and Penelec would send someone who would go up in a “bucket” and replace the burned out bulb.  Finding of Fact No. 12; Tr. 12, 17.  On one occasion, one of Ms. Fochtman’s neighbors, 84-year old Mrs. Boring, woke up to find three men in her bedroom.  Mrs. Boring lives at the corner of Poplar and Adams Avenue, and that event occurred just before the Township installed a light at that intersection.  Finding of Fact No. 13; Tr. 12-13.  In Ms. Fochtman’s community, there have been instances of theft and robbery, but that only seems to happen where there are no outdoor lights.  Ms. Fochtman believes that her outdoor lights make her home safer and provide her with a sense of security.  Finding of Fact No. 14; Tr. 13.  Without the outdoor lights she has now, Ms. Fochtman would feel unsafe going out her door or sitting watching TV knowing someone could just walk right in her door.  Finding of Fact No. 15; Tr. 14.
Aside from referencing the proceedings and notices in its 2006 rate proceeding in which Penelec sought to eliminate Outdoor Lighting Service, the only other evidence offered by Penelec’s witness in this case, Roxane D. Hartman, pertained to the Energy Policy Act of 2005, which prohibits the manufacture or import of mercury vapor bulbs, effective as of January 1, 2008.  In light of this prohibition, Penelec is not allowed to replace a mercury vapor bulb.
  Tr. 34-35.
As stated above, in his Initial Decision, the ALJ granted Penelec’s Motion to Dismiss the Complaints of those Complainants who failed to appear at the hearing of September 15, 2008, and dismissed those Complaints with prejudice.  I.D. at 19-20.  However, the ALJ sustained the Complaints of Betty Lou Shoup and Janet E. Fochtman and directed Penelec not to enforce the elimination of its Outdoor Lighting Service with respect to those two Complainants.  I.D. at 20.  The ALJ further ordered that Penelec submit to the Commission’s Bureau of Conservation, Economics and Energy Planning (CEEP) a plan for replacing the mercury vapor bulbs currently used with fixtures and bulbs permitted by Federal law and regulations.  I.D. at 20.
Penelec filed three exceptions to the Initial Decision, contending that: (1) the Initial Decision should be reversed because it conflicts with two Commission orders authorizing the elimination of Penelec’s Outdoor Area Lighting Service; (2) the Complaints are nearly identical to that in Thomas J. Jarzab v. Pennsylvania Electric Company, Docket No. C-20078144 (Order entered July 17, 2008); and (3) the Complainants did not establish a prima facie case that Penelec’s elimination of Outdoor Area Lighting Service is unjust or unreasonable.  For the reasons we will explain, below, we are not persuaded by Penelec’s Exceptions, and we will deny the same.
Penelec’s first Exception centers on the contention that the Initial Decision should be reversed because it conflicts with two Commission orders authorizing the elimination of Penelec’s Outdoor Area Lighting Service. Exc. at 5-6.  The two orders referred to in this Exception are: (1) the Commission’s determination in the context of Penelec’s rate transition plan that Penelec’s elimination of Outdoor Area Lighting Service is just and reasonable;
 and (2) the Commission’s decision in Jarzab.  With respect to the integrity of Penelec’s rate transition plan, we understand Penelec’s point, but the safety and well-being of the Complainants, clearly established of record in this proceeding, militates against the strict application of Penelec’s Tariff and elimination of Penelec’s Outdoor Area Lighting Service in these specific cases.    With respect to the applicability of Jarzab, as that case is the subject of Penelec’s third Exception, we will address that case, below.
With respect to Penelec’s second Exception, that the Complaints in this case are nearly identical to Jarzab which should be followed as controlling, we cannot agree. Exc. at 7-9.  Thomas J. Jarzab filed a formal Complaint regarding Penelec’s phase out of this tariff on August 20, 2007.  Mr. Jarzab objected to the elimination of the service for reasons of safety and the costs of replacing Penelec’s lighting.  We acknowledged those objections but declined to revisit the effect of the prior Order.  In
 this proceeding, the Complainants raised many of the same objections as Mr. Jarzab, but they provided more specific examples regarding the public safety benefits of the service and how their own personal circumstances made obtaining replacement lighting difficult.  While we acknowledge that our decision in this case represents a departure from our prior holding in Jarzab, in this case it is more affordable for some customers to continue to receive Outdoor Area Lighting Service from the utility as opposed to paying a contractor to duplicate existing facilities.  We also agree with the ALJ’s analysis that whereas Jarzab centered on the issue of Penelec’s notice of a proposed change in rates, notice is not an issue in this case, and neither of the Complainants raised notice as an issue in their Complaints or at hearing.  
Finally, Penelec’s third exception contends that the Complainants did not establish a prima facie case that Penelec’s elimination of Outdoor Area Lighting Service is unjust or unreasonable.  Exc. at 9-12.  We agree with the reasoning of the ALJ that, while public utility tariffs have the force and effect of law and are binding on a utility and its customers, the disposition of this specific case is controlled by Section 1501 of the Public Utility Code, 66 Pa. C.S. §1501, which provides, in pertinent part:
Every public utility shall furnish and maintain adequate, efficient, safe, and reasonable service and facilities, and shall make all such repairs, changes, alterations, substitutions, extensions, and improvements in or to such service and facilities as shall be necessary or proper for the accommodation, convenience, and safety of its patrons, employees, and the public.  Such service also shall be reasonably continuous and without unreasonable interruptions or delay.  Such service and facilities shall be in conformity with the regulations and orders of the commission . . . .
We agree with the ALJ that based on the evidence they presented at the hearing, Ms. Shoup and Ms. Fochtman established a prima facie case that Penelec’s elimination of Outdoor Lighting Service in their specific cases would be in violation of the above-quoted provisions of Section 1501 of the Code.  We agree with the ALJ’s determination that Penelec presented no evidence challenging or contesting the safety and security aspect of the outdoor lights on the property of Ms. Shoup or Ms. Fochtman. Penelec presented no evidence challenging or contesting that the outdoor light on Ms. Shoup’s property also provides safety and security lighting to three homes and for children arriving home from school on the evening “activity bus.”  One of the two outdoor lights on the property of Ms. Fochtman is between her house and the street.  Accordingly, it may reasonably be inferred that the public traveling on Adams Avenue, either on foot or in a motor vehicle, receive some illuminating benefit from at least one of the outdoor lights on her property.  No evidence to support a contrary inference was presented by Penelec.  Penelec presented no evidence challenging or contesting that of Ms. Shoup or Ms. Fochtman that they are paying for outdoor lighting which not only provides a benefit to them, but also to members of the public.

Based on a review of the record in this proceeding and the applicable law, we agree with the ALJ that the Complaints of Ms. Shoup and Ms. Fochtman should be sustained.  We find that the public interest will be served by Penelec continuing to provide Outdoor Area Lighting Service to all customers now receiving it.  However, Penelec is not required to offer this service to customers not already receiving it as of January 11, 2007 (as Penelec’s tariff currently provides).  Penelec may, of course, fully recover the reasonable costs of providing this service, though the rates currently in place may need revision in the future as a consequence of post-rate cap price changes.  Penelec is directed to provide affected customers notice of our decision in this matter so that they do not unnecessarily incur the costs of securing replacement fixtures.
Further, we note that the decision in this case does not apply to former Elkland Service Area customers served under this tariff or to Metropolitan Edison Company (Met-Ed) customers receiving Outdoor Area Lighting Service.  The facts and policy issues relevant to this case may be equally applicable to those customers.  After reviewing this decision, Penelec and Met-Ed are encouraged to advise us, in writing, as to whether, upon further consideration, they still plan to phase-out this service to these two groups of customers.
Finally, and as suggested by the ALJ, Penelec is required to submit a plan for the replacement of mercury vapor bulbs and fixtures currently receiving service under Outdoor Area Lighting Service provisions of its Tariff with fixtures and bulbs which are permitted by Federal law or regulations to be used for outdoor lighting purposes, and that such plan should be submitted to CEEP within thirty (30) days of the date on which the Commission’s Opinion and Order in this case is entered.

Conclusion
Based upon the foregoing discussion, we shall deny Penelec’s Exceptions and adopt the ALJ’s Initial Decision consistent with the foregoing discussion; THEREFORE,

IT IS ORDERED: 



1.
That the Exceptions of Pennsylvania Electric Company to the Initial Decision of Administrative Law Judge Robert P. Meehan are denied.


2.
That the Complaints of Betty Lou Shoup and Janet E. Fochtman against Penelec are sustained.  

3.
That the November 19, 2008 Initial Decision of Administrative Law Judge Meehan is adopted, consistent with this Opinion and Order.
4.
That a copy of this Opinion and Order be served on the Metropolitan Edison Company.



5.
That within thirty (30) days of the entry date of this Opinion and Order that Pennsylvania Electric Company is to submit to the Commission’s Bureau of Conservation, Economics and Energy Planning a plan for replacing outdoor mercury vapor lighting with outdoor lighting that is in compliance with existing Federal and state laws and regulations.
6.
That after reviewing this decision, Pennsylvania Electric Company and Metropolitan Edison Company are encouraged to advise  the Commission’s Bureau of Conservation, Economics and Energy Planning in writing, within thirty (30) days of the entry date of this Opinion and Order whether, upon further consideration, they still plan to phase-out Outdoor Area Lighting Service to Penelec’s former Elkland Service Area customers served under this tariff or to Met-Ed’s customers receiving Outdoor Area Lighting Service.
7.
That within thirty (30) days of the entry date of this Opinion and Order, Penelec is to serve a notice on all customers affected or potentially affected by this Opinion and Order explaining the Order, its effect, and Penelec’s proposed course of action.  The text of that draft is to be prepared in conjunction with the Commission’s Bureau of Consumer Services with a copy of the issued notice filed with the Commission at this docket.
8.  That upon receipt of the filings referenced in ordering Paragraphs 5 and 6, above, by Commission’s Bureau of Conservation, Economics and Energy Planning, that this proceeding be marked closed.
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BY THE COMMISSION,








James J. McNulty








Secretary

(SEAL)

ORDER ADOPTED:  March 26, 2009
ORDER ENTERED:  May 8, 2009
	�	42 U.S.C. § 6295(ee); 10 C.F.R. § 431.286


	� 	Docket No. R-00061367 (Order entered January 11, 2007)
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